NO. 03281-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Formerly Court of Appeals No. 73116-5-I)

FRANCISCO ENTILA and ERLINDA ENTILA, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents,

VS.

GERALD COOK and JANE DOE COOK, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable James Cayce, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

REED McCLURE

By Marilee C. Erickson

Attorneys for Petitioners

WSBA #16144

Address:

Financial Center 1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook completed their shifts at Boeing. They were involved in a pedestrian vehicle accident on Boeing property. The accident did not occur in a parking lot. Mr. Entila sued Mr. Cook for negligence. The superior court concluded the Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA") applied so Mr. Cook was statutorily immune from liability. The case was dismissed. Division I concluded that Mr. Cook was required to show he was in the course and scope of employment and had not established those facts. Division I reversed. This Court should accept review and reinstate the superior court's order of dismissal.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court accept review of Division I's decision where the case presents an issue of substantial public importance and interest regarding the abolition of personal injury actions and the IIA as the exclusive remedy where a worker is injured by a co-worker?
- 2. Should this Court accept review of Division I's decision where the holding that a co-worker seeking immunity from a negligence action by a co-worker must establish that he was both in the course of employment and the scope of employment conflicts with this Court's decision in *Evans v. Thompson*?

- 3. Should this Court accept review of Division I's decision where the holding that an accident which occurs in an area under their employer's control and not in a parking area while the co-workers are immediately coming from work conflicts with this Court's decision in *Olson v. Stern?*
- 4. Should this Court accept review of Division I's decision where its holding that a superior court cannot consider IIA benefits raises an issue of substantial public importance because the ruling renders the second sentence of RCW 51.24.100 meaningless?

III. RELEVANT FACTS

Mr. Entila and Mr. Cook were Boeing employees. (CP 39-40, 168-69, 176) They were both leaving work after completing their shifts. (CP 2, 168, 198) Mr. Cook was driving his vehicle. (CP 2, 168-69) Mr. Entila was a pedestrian. (CP 2) Mr. Cook was driving on a Boeing access road. (CP 2, 169) Entila was crossing the road. (CP 2, 169, 176) Mr. Cook's vehicle hit Mr. Entila. (CP 168-69) The accident happened on an interior road on Boeing's property. (CP 215, 376)

The interior road allows access to the interior of the plants between the buildings. (CP 365, 374) The interior road is not part of the designated parking lot area. (CP 172, 376) No parking is allowed on the access road. (CP 365, 377) The access road is the only means of a vehicle getting to and from the parking area. (CP 170, 172)

Boeing controls the road: it sets the speed limit (CP 365, 375); issues tickets for speeding (CP 375); issues tickets and/or tows vehicles left on road (CP 378-79); installed a marked cross-walk (CP 377); installed stop signs (CP 377), and reconfigured the road as sole means for accessing parking lot (CP 170, 172).

Mr. Entila sued alleging Mr. Cook was negligent and proximately caused Mr. Entila's injuries. (CP 1-3) Mr. Entila alleged that Mr. Cook was commuting home and was not acting in the course and scope of employment at the time of the accident. (CP 2, Complaint ¶ 3.3) Mr. Entila also alleged that the accident occurred in an area outside of the work area. (CP 2, Complaint ¶ 3.6)

Mr. Cook answered the complaint and denied negligence. (CP 153-56) Mr. Cook admitted that he was commuting home from work at the time of the accident but specifically denied that allegation that he was not acting in the course and scope of his employment. (CP 154) Mr. Cook also denied the allegation that the accident occurred outside the jobsite. (CP 154)

The superior court ruled that no material facts exist and Mr. Cook was entitled to immunity. (CP 380-81) Mr. Entila appealed and sought

direct review from the Supreme Court. (CP 382-85) This Court transferred the case to Division I of the Court of Appeals.

On October 5, 2015, Division I issued its decision reversing the superior court's order and remanding for "further proceedings consistent with this opinion." A copy of decision is attached as Appendix A. Division I denied Mr. Cook's motion for reconsideration on October 27, 2015. A copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration is attached as Appendix B. Mr. Cook asks this Court to grant review.

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court will accept discretionary review if the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Division I's decision fits both categories. It conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and raises issues of substantial public importance. Mr. Cook asks this Court to accept review.

A. THE IIA PROVIDES THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR MR. ENTILA.

Division I's decision conflicts with established Washington public policy and established rules of statutory construction. Washington's Industrial Insurance Act provides the exclusive remedy for injured workers except as provided in Title 51. RCW 51.04.010.

Since 1911 when the IIA was originally created, all civil actions for a worker's personal injuries have been abolished except as provided in Title 51. Chapter 74 of Laws of 1911, Section 1, now codified at RCW 51.04.010. The legislature abolished courts' jurisdiction over worker's personal injury action except as provided in Title 51. RCW 51.04.010 states:

The state of Washington, therefore, exercising herein its police and sovereign power, declares that all phases of the premises are withdrawn from private controversy, and sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents is hereby provided regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy, proceeding or compensation, except as otherwise provided in this title; and to that end all civil actions and civil causes of action for such personal injuries and all jurisdiction of the courts of the state over such causes are hereby abolished, except as in this title provided.

The exclusive remedy of the IIA is further evidenced in RCW 51.32.010. It states: "Each worker injured in the course of his or her employment . . . shall receive compensation in accordance with this chapter, and, except as in this title otherwise provided, such payment shall be in lieu of any and all rights of action whatsoever against any person whomsoever . . ."

RCW 51.24.030 contains one of the few exceptions to IIA's exclusivity. An injured worker is allowed to seek damages from the third person who is not his employer or co-worker. The statute states:

(1) If a third person, not in a worker's same employ, is or may become liable to pay damages on account of a worker's injury for which benefits and compensation are provided under this title, the injured worker or beneficiary may elect to seek damages from the third person.

(Emphasis added.)

Washington courts have followed the statute and prohibited an injured worker from suing his co-worker. *Wilson v. Boots*, 57 Wn. App. 734, 790 P.2d 192, *rev. denied*, 115 Wn.2d 1015 (1990). In interpreting RCW 51.24.010, the previous codification of RCW 51.24.030(1), Division I explained:

It is implicit in the legislature's inclusion of a provision in RCW 51.24.010 allowing a workman injured in the course of his employment by the "negligence or wrong of another not in the same employ" to elect to sue that person, that the legislature intended that one *in* the "same employ" would *not* be susceptible to suit. Had the legislature desired to include provisions stating that one in the same employ might be sued . . . it could have done so. The statutory language, however, does not include qualifications to the "same employ" terminology.

Peterick v. State, 22 Wn. App. 163, 190, 589 P.2d 250 (1977), (emphasis in original), rev. denied, 90 Wn.2d 1024 (1978), overruled on other grounds, Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co., 104 Wn.2d 710, 719, 709 P.2d 793 (1985).

Courts are to determine the legislative intent from the statute's language. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The legislature enacted statutes defining "employer"

(RCW 51.08.070); "employee" (RCW 51.08.185); "worker" (RCW 51.08.180 and RCW 51.08.181); and exceptions to "employer" and "worker" (RCW 51.08.195). If the legislature wanted to place limitations on the "same employ" language, it could have done so.

The legislature established the IIA as the exclusive remedy for injured workers who are injured through the negligence of their employers or persons in the "same employ." The legislature has not placed limitations on the "same employ" phrase. The legislature has had ample opportunity to do so.

Division I's decision improperly added the phrases "scope of employment" and "course of employment" to RCW 51.24.030 while applying the legislature's express RCW 51.08.013 definition of "acting in the course of employment" to only one worker. Statutory construction cannot be used to read additional words into a statute. *Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 162 Wn.2d 210, 219, 173 P.3d 885 (2007), *citing State v. Chester*, 133 Wn.2d 15, 21, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997). Division I's decision undermines the legislature's century old directive that the IIA is the exclusive remedy for an injured worker. Mr. Cook asks this Court to accept review of Division I's decision and affirm the superior court's order.

B. WASHINGTON HAS NO "CLEAR REQUIREMENT THAT AN EMPLOYEE ACTED WITHIN BOTH THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF EMPLOYMENT TO ESTABLISH IMMUNITY."

Division I concluded that Mr. Cook did not have immunity from Mr. Entila's third party action because Mr. Cook did not establish that he was in both the course of employment and the scope of employment at the time of the accident. Surprisingly, Division I based its holding on *Evans v. Thompson*, 124 Wn.2d 435, 879 P.2d 938 (1994). Division I's decision actually conflicts with *Evans v. Thompson*.

In *Evans v. Thompson*, this Court held that there were factual issues about whether directors and officers who also owned the property where the workers were injured were in the "same employ." The *Evans* Court made passing reference to "scope of employment." The Court did not, however, expressly hold that a co-employee defendant seeking immunity (i.e. that IIA is exclusive remedy) must prove he was acting in the scope <u>and</u> the course of employment.

The *Evans* Court only generally referred to "course of employment" and "scope of employment" in its analysis. The word scope is used 9 times in the majority opinion. It is used in a quote from a Florida case. 124 Wn.2d at 440. The *Evans* court says the requirement is the defendant was "acting in the scope and course of his or her employment." 124 Wn.2d at 444. In the next paragraph, the *Evans* court interchangeably

uses the phrases "in the course of" and "within the scope of." *Id.* At least three of the references to "scope" are in the context of the scope of the defendant husband's director duties. 124 Wn.2d at 445. One reference to "scope" is in the context of a hypothetical where the word seems to be used as a synonym for "course." 124 Wn.2d at 447. There is no meaningful analysis or application in *Evans* of the two phrases "course of employment" and "scope of employment."

Division I's decision conflicts with *Evans v. Thompson*. Washington law does not require that a co-worker must establish both scope of employment <u>and</u> course of employment to be immune from a third party action by a co-worker. If a co-worker in the course of his employment is injured by a co-employee in the course of his employment, the injured co-worker cannot pursue a third party action. Mr. Cook was in the course of his employment under RCW 51.08.013. He was on Boeing premises in an area specifically controlled by Boeing. He was not in a parking lot. He was immediately going from work and was considered to be on the jobsite. This Court should grant review of Division I's decision.

C. Division I's Decision Conflicts with This Court's Decision in Olson V. Stern.

Division I's decision conflicts with *Olson v. Stern*, 65 Wn.2d 871, 400 P.2d 305 (1965). In *Olson*, this Court decided defendant was not

entitled to immunity from plaintiff's third party action because the accident occurred in a parking lot and defendant was not in the course of his employment.

Olson was driving a three-wheeled scooter as part of his job. Stern, a co-employee, was driving his own vehicle and was headed home from work. The accident occurred in a parking area. The defendant driver, Stern, asserted he was immune from liability because the accident fit within the Industrial Insurance Act.

This Court determined the IIA did not apply. The conclusion turned on two rationales: the defendant was not performing a work related task and the accident occurred in a parking area. The *Olson* court explained:

Respondent Sam Stern . . . had finished his day's work; he had completed his tasks for the day, and in driving out of the parking area 15 minutes after leaving his office, he was neither "acting at his employer's direction" nor "in the furtherance of his employer's business" (RCW 51.08.013), nor was he en route to a jobsite. . . . As to him, the place assigned to him for parking his car could not be said to constitute a jobsite under the workmen's compensation statutes, but rather it was, as the legislature described it, a parking area and, therefore, exempt from the workmen's compensation statutes.

65 Wn.2d at 877 (emphasis in original).

In *Olson*, this Court stated "[u]nless, then, the parking area is a jobsite for the party claiming immunity from suit, we must accept the idea

that the legislature intended to exclude accidents occurring in parking areas from the [IIA]." 65 Wn.2d at 877. Because the accident occurred in the parking area and the defendant was not working, the *Olson* Court determined defendant was not entitled to immunity from the third party action.

Olson stands for the proposition that if an accident occurs in a parking area, there is no immunity for the defendant driver because he does not fit the RCW 51.08.013 definition of "acting in the course of employment." From that decision, it follows that if an accident between co-workers who are immediately going from work on their employer's premises in an area not a parking area, the workers are in the same employ and in the course of employment. Therefore, the IIA is the exclusive remedy and no third party action may be brought. Division I's decision conflicts with Olson v. Stern. This Court should accept review.

D. DIVISION I'S INTERPRETATION OF RCW 51.24.100 IGNORES THE PLAIN STATUTORY LANGUAGE.

Division I's holding that a superior court cannot consider IIA benefits raises an issue of substantial public importance because the ruling renders statutory language meaningless. RCW 51.24.100 states:

The fact that the injured worker or beneficiary is entitled to compensation under this title shall not be pleaded or admissible in evidence in any third party action under this chapter. Any challenge of the right to bring such action shall be made by supplemental pleadings only and shall be decided by the court as a matter of law.

Division I paraphrased Mr. Entila's argument as the trial court is barred from considering evidence of Mr. Entila's IIA benefits to determine Cook's immunity. Division I held the "statute clearly prohibits evidence that Entila received benefits." (Appendix A at 10) Division I's holding ignores the second sentence of RCW 51.24.100---that whether a coworker has a right to bring a third party action is decided as a matter of law. The fact a co-worker received IIA benefits cannot be divorced from the "challenge of the right to bring such [an] action." A trial court deciding a legal issue must be allowed to know the context of the challenge.

Here, the superior court was deciding the legal issue of Mr. Entila's right to bring a third party action against Mr. Cook. A superior court must be allowed to decide the legal issue of immunity.

Other statutes in RCW ch. 51.24 reveal that the receipt of IIA benefits sets the very context for a third party action. The existence of the payment of IIA benefits is a fundamental requirement of RCW 51.24.030. The statute states:

(1) If a third person, not in a worker's same employ, is or may become liable to pay damages on account of a worker's **injury for which benefits and compensation** are provided under this title, the injured worker or beneficiary may elect to seek damages from a third person.

. . .

(3) For purposes of this chapter, "injury" shall include any physical . . . condition . . . for which compensation and benefits are paid or payable under this title.

(Emphasis added.)

When RCW 51.24.030 and 51.24.100 are considered together, it is apparent that a court deciding the legal issue of whether an injured worker has the right to bring a third party action must know about the worker's IIA benefits. Division I's erroneous decision raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should review.

V. CONCLUSION

Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Olson* v. Stern and Evans v. Thompson and the petition raises issues of substantial public importance regarding the exclusive remedy of the IIA and the meaning of RCW 51.24.100. Mr. Cook respectfully requests that this Court grant review.