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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A. Entila Decision Does Not Conflict With Evans or Olson. 

The Entila decision does not conflict with existing case law as 

suggested by Cook, including Olson v. Stern, 65 Wn.2d 871, 400 P.2d 305 

(1965) and Evans v. Thompson. 124 Wash.2d 435, 879 P.2d 938 (1994). 

Olson was cited extensively in Entila's briefing and ultimately relied upon 

by the Court of Appeals due to its strikingly similar factual scenarios and 

legal issues. There is no conflict, and the Entila decision applied the Olson 

holding that immunity only attaches to a coemployee when the 

coemployee is acting in furtherance of his employer's business. 
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Similarly, the Entila decision also cites and follows the reasoning 

m Evans v. Thompson, which again cited the rule of law that the 

defendant's action determine his liability, 

"It must be observed that the immunity attaches to the 
coemployee only when the coemployee is acting in the 
course of his employment." Evans v. Thompson, 124 
Wash.2d 435 (1994) 879 P.2d 938, citing 2A Arthur 
Larson, Workmen's Compensation § 72.23, at 14-117 
(1987). 

And also, 

The purpose of the exclusive remedy provision of the 
workers' compensation law is to give immunity to the 
employer and coemployees acting in the scope and course 
of their employment. Its purpose is not to create artificial 
immunity .... To provide immunity as a matter of law 
denies the right of a third party action against the person 
actually responsible for the injury or death. Evans at 947. 

Olson, Evans, and now Entila are not in conflict, but rather 

cohesively reflect the reasoning, purpose, spirit and policy behind the 

Industrial Insurance Act: to help injured workers and also allow them to seek 

redress against the party who actually injured them. It is nonsensical to 

suggest that a different interpretation of "scope" and "course" of 

employment would make Defendant Cook's reckless indifference and 

careless acts qualifY for immunity. Cook was not working, driving his O\Vn 

frost-covered vehicle, and ran into his coworker because he couldn't see out 

of his windshield. To suggest such actions should be deemed "in furtherance 
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of his employer" as defined by the Act is not appropriate. Cook is not in the 

class of those intended to be granted immunity under the statute. Division I 

was correct in reversing and remanding in keeping with these important 

precedential cases and the underlying legislative intentions. 

B. Entila Decision Does Not Affect Substantial Public Interest. 

The Division I decision does not affect injured workers' rights 

regarding when they can sue a negligent coworker nor negligent 

coworkers' rights to immunity when they are engaged in their employer's 

work, and does not render any portion of RCW 51.24.100 "meaningless." 

Cook's assertion that the IIA provides an exclusive remedy for an injured 

worker is overbroad and does not reflect the significant import the 

legislature places on the injured worker's right to be fully compensated, 

including the favored right to sue a negligent third-party. 

Cook misstates the Division I ruling's impact, and cites the finding 

in Wilson v. Boots, 57 Wn.App. 734, 736, 790 P.2d 192, rev. denied, 115 

Wn.2d 1015 ( 1990). In Wilson, the facts were different so the result was 

different. In that case, the at-fault and injured coworkers were both 

working at an offsite work area when one accidently backed a company 

truck into the other. Both were doing the work they were employed to do. 

Here, there is no evidence upon which to find that Defendant Cook was 

performing work when, after his shift, he negligently drove his own frost-
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covered vehicle into Entila who was walking to his car. Cook was not a 

worker for whom the protections of the IIA were intended. 

The Supreme Court test and statutory interpretations used by 

Division I are not new or applied differently than the cited precedents. The 

cases cited by Cook have different facts than the case at hand and are 

misinterpreted or mistated. This Court should decline review. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Immunity Is Determined By The Actions of The Tortfeasor. 

The Entila decision centers on the premise that one must be working in 

furtherance of his or her employer's interest in order to be entitled to 

immunity under the Industrial Insurance Act. This premise is in keeping 

with the statutory scheme and legislative intent and purpose to protect 

injured workers, and the decision is in line with the precedential cases 

decided by this Supreme Court that determined it is the actions of the 

defendant that should determine immunity. It is incorrect to suggest that 

because he is also employed by Boeing, Cook should be entitled to 

immunity because he was not in a parking area when he drove his frost

covered car into Entila. This is not the holding of Olson or Evans, and is 

certainly not the spirit and legislative intent of the IIA. Division I correctly 

determined that Cook should have to show he was actually doing work for 

his employer before being bestowed with immunity under the statute. 
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Nowhere in Title 51 does it provide immunity for a non-working 

tortfeasor who causes harm. There is no legislative intent to protect a 

tortfeasor simply because he or she may share a common employer with 

the injured person. Case law, as established by this Supreme Court, 

provides a test that the tortfeasor must pass: he or she must prove they 

were actually doing work for their employer at the time of the accident in 

order to be entitled to the protection of Title 51. The Entila decision, along 

with Olson v. Stern and Evans v. Thompson before it, is in keeping with 

the spirit, intent, and letter of the statute. The Entila decision aligns and 

clarifies the long line of cases deciding the immunity issue for tortfeasors 

and distinguishing those cases that decide whether workers are entitled to 

benefits. There is no conflict with the statute, no cases that are overturned, 

and no new interpretation of either that changes their application. 

B. IIA Does Not Provide Immunity For A Nonworking Tortfeasor. 

The language ofRCW § 51.08.013 makes it clear that the intent ofthe 

statute is to ensure those injured on the job are able to obtain benefits, 

stating, "It is not necessary that at the time an injury is sustained by a 

worker he or she is doing the work on which his or her compensation is 

based." Thus, the statute affords the injured worker wide latitude in 

qualifying for benefits despite the fact that he may not be, at the time of 

his injury, actually engaged in work. In order to provide benefits for the 
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injured worker, RCW § 51.08.013 bestows artificial "acting in the course 

of employment'' status for those coming and going on the jobsite, with the 

limited exception of the "parking lot rule" which in some circumstances 

excludes the injured worker from obtaining benefits when the injury 

occurs in a parking area. Nowhere in the statute is there a flip side to the 

benefits coin to apply artificial "acting in the course of employment" 

status and thus immunity to a negligent, non-injured coworker who is not 

actively working; he must prove that he was actively engaged in work for 

his employer to get immunity under common law test set forth by this 

Supreme Court. The only time "immunity" appears in Title 51 is in RCW 

§ 51.24.035 with regard to design professionals on a construction project, 

which has no application here. A tortfeasor like Cook who has finished his 

shift, left his work area, and is driving his own car off the jobsite is not 

entitled to claim immunity under the premise of simply being a coworker 

at a prior time and location. The Court should deny review so that 

proceedings can move forward in keeping with this rule. 

C. Nonworking Tortfeasor Is Not Immune Under Case Law. 

There is no case law in Washington in which a tortfeasor is granted 

immunity based on the broad artificial "in the course of employment" 

language of RCW § 51.08.013 and who was not actually working at the 

time the injury occurred. The tortfeasor must bear the common law burden 
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of proving that he or she was actually engaged in work for the benefit of 

the employer. This Court has confirmed the common law burden applies 

to those seeking immunity in each case that has come up on appeal. 

Cook continues to argue that benefits and immunity are like two 

sides of the same coin and that he should be entitled to show that the 

injured worker received benefits as evidence that he is entitled to 

immunity. Cook states that these concepts cannot be "divorced" from each 

other and the judge "must know" about the benefits to make a proper 

decision on immunity. It is well settled that Title 51 and its common law 

counterpart collateral source rule do not allow evidence of benefits, 

insurance, or other outside sources of coverage. Such evidence bears no 

impact on the issue of immunity and is inadmissible for any purpose under 

RCW§51.24.100 and the common law collateral source rule. Division I 

correctly determined that eligibility for benefits by one party does not 

resolve the immunity question for another. Benefits and immunity are 

separate and distinct concepts with no relevance or bearing on the 

determination of the other. This distinction is not new or different; it is a 

longstanding rule that such outside sources are not to be considered as 

evidence. Division I interpreted the statute correctly and in keeping with 

the statute and case law. It does not ignore or change the application ofthe 
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statute or hinder the judge's ability to determine one's right to pursue or 

challenge a third-party action. 

Cook also argues that a worker's receipt of benefits is an exclusive 

remedy and restricts his ability to pursue a civil claim against a negligent 

coworker. Title 51 recognizes the right of an injured worker to be fully 

compensated, including the right to sue a negligent third-party. The right 

to recover fully in this way reflects the legislative intent to protect the 

worker. Recovery against a third-party is favored as it creates a right of 

subrogation in the self-insured employer or the Department of Labor and 

Industries. 

Division I correctly reversed the trial court's decision to grant 

immunity to a negligent driver who was not doing any work, and, in the 

case at hand, under the influence of marijuana. The Court of Appeals 

rightly determined that the tortfeasor cannot rely on RCW § 51.08.013 to 

relieve him of responsibility for his O\Vn negligence when he is not doing 

any actual work. Granting immunity to non-working employees unjustly 

results in taxpayers and employers bearing the cost of negligence by 

employees engaged in activities unrelated to the business of the employer 

and leaves the employer or state with no ability to seek reimbursement/ 

subrogation against the at-fault party. 
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D. Entila Decision Mirrors Other Current Case Law. 

The Division I decision at issue is also in keeping with the more 

recent case of Orris v. Lingley, 288 P.3d 1159 (2012) review denied, 304 

P.3d 115 (Wash. 2013). In both Orris and Entila, (1) the plaintiffs were 

injured by negligent drivers who shared their employer; (2) the accidents 

occurred after the parties' shifts, (3) the plaintiffs received benefits under 

the Industrial Insurance Act; (4) the defendants argued that they were 

"commuting to or from the jobsite;" and (5) the defendants were allegedly 

impaired drivers who tested positive for marijuana after the accident. On 

these facts, the Orris court stated, 

Because Orris and Lingley were in the same employ, Orris 
would ordinarily be unable to bring a third party action 
against Lingley. However, " '[i]f both employees have a 
common employer but the negligent employee is not acting 
in the course of his employment at the time the injury 
occurs,' " the negligent employee is not immune from suit 
by the injured employee. Evans v. Thompson, 124 Wash.2d 
435 (Wash. 1994) 879 P.2d 938 (quoting Taylor v. Cady, 
18 Wash.App. 204, 206, 566 P.2d 987 (1977)). The Act 
defines " [a]cting in the course of employment" as " the 
worker acting at his or her employer's direction or in the 
furtherance of his or her employer's business .... " RCW § 
51.08.013. Orris at 1162. 

The Orris court also held, 

The material question here is whether Lingley was acting in 
the course of his employment when the crash occurred. If 
he was not, then the Act authorizes Orris to maintain a third 
party action against Lingley's estate. !d. 
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Orris contends that the THC and cannabinoids found in 
Lingley's body create a genuine issue of fact whether 
Lingley was so intoxicated that he abandoned the course of 
employment. Orris is correct. !d. 

Intoxication removes an employee from the course of 
employment if the employee becomes so intoxicated that he 
has abandoned his employment. Flavor/and Indus., Inc. v. 
Schumacker, 32 Wash.App. 428, 434, 647 P.2d 1062 
(1982). !d. 

The Orris court further stated, 

Also, although the parties did not brief the issue, at oral 
argument, Orris argued that an employee commuting to and 
from work is generally acting outside the course of 
employment. Orris was correct; an employee commuting to 
and from work in his or her own vehicle is generally 
outside the course of employment. Belnap v. Boeing Co., 
64 Wash.App. 212, 221-22, 823 P.2d 528 (1992). 

Following Orris, a third-party claim is authorized where the 

defendant has strayed from the course of employment; marijuana use 

raises the issue of whether the defendant driver abandoned his course of 

employment; and the use of his personal vehicle to commute home is, in 

general, outside the course of employment. In our case, Cook admits he 

wasn't doing any work and his marijuana use is not the basis on which 

Entila asserts that Cook was not in the course of his employment, although 

this fact supports Plaintiff Entila's position that immunity is inappropriate 

for Defendant Cook. This court denied review of Orris and should do the 

same here. 
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E. Case Law Applies Strict Definition of "Course of Employment." 

RCW § 51.08.013 grants leeway to injured workers who may not 

be in the course of employment, stating, "It is not necessary that at the 

time an injury is sustained by a worker he or she is doing the work on 

which his or her compensation is based." Washington courts have rejected 

this broad construction of "course of employment" for uninjured 

tortfeasors seeking immunity stating, 

To effectuate the legislative intent to provide 
compensation to injured workers without regard to fault, 
courts have broadly construed the statutory term 
"course of employment." RCW § 51.08.013. See 
generally, lA. Larson, The Law of Workmen's 
Compensation, Ch. 1 (1978). lmpqsition of vicariou_s tort 
liability, howeyer, is based on common law negligen.ce 
principles which do no._t require a broad construction Q[ 
the term. Strachan v. Kitsap County, 27 Wn.App. 271, 275, 
616 P.2d 1251, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980) 
(emphasis added). 

The language of RCW § 51.08.013 was never intended to insulate 

uninjured non-working tortfeasors from liability, 

(t)he basic purpose for which the rules of vicarious liability 
were used at common law is different from the purpose of 
the rules used in compensation law." Strachan v. Kitsap 
County, 27 Wn.App. 271, 275, 616 P.2d 1251, 1254, 
review denied 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980) citing Fisher v. 
Seattle, 62 Wash.2d 800, 803-804, 384 P.2d 852, 854 
(1963) (emphasis added). 

In Strachan, an off-duty city police officer accidentally shot and 

injured a county sheriff after completing his shift as a police officer and 
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while assisting the sheriff in performing county duties at the time of the 

accident. Strachan at 272. The court found the accidental shooting was 

outside the scope of his employment. Strachan at 274. 

Although the Strachan facts are quite different than the case at 

hand, the outcome there also centered on the issue of whether the at-fault 

party was in the course of his employment. The court looked at the 

officer's actions to determine whether he was working at the time of the 

shooting and found that he was not. The case is analogous to Olson, 

Evans, and now Entila, where the court looked at the actions of the 

tortfeasor to determine if they are in keeping with someone who is in the 

course of employment and meet the common law test for being actively 

engaged in his employer's interest, 

The test adopted by this court for determining whether an 
employee is, at a given time, in the course of his 
employment, is whether the employee was, at the time, 
engaged in the performance of the duties required of him 
by his contract of employment, or by specific direction of 
his employer; or, as sometimes stated, whether he was 
engaged at the time in the furtherance of the employer's 
interest. Strachan v. Kitsap County, 27 Wn.App. 271, 616 
P.2d 1251, review denied, 94 Wash.2d 1025 (1980) citing 
Elder v. Cisco Constr. Co., 52 Wash.2d 241, 245, 324 P.2d 
1082, 1085 (1958), quoting Greene v. St. Paul-Mercury 
Indem. Co., 51 Wash.2d 569, 320 P.2d 311 (1958). 

As set forth in Olson, Evans, Orris, Strachan, and Entila, to be in 

the course of employment for the purpose of establishing immunity 
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requires that one must meet the common law test for being actively 

engaged in or in furtherance of one's employer's interest. Without doing 

so, there is no immunity under Title 51. The Entila decision continues a 

long line of cases to this effect, and there is no conflict with the case law 

or statute. Review should be denied. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Division I got this decision right. Immunity is inappropriate for an 

uninjured tortfeasor who is not doing any work, is under the influence of 

marijuana, and negligently drives his frost-covered vehicle into his co

worker. Granting immunity to an employee who has strayed so far from 

his course of employment leads to an inequitable result and is not in 

keeping with the plain meaning of the statute, the intent of the legislature, 

or the line of cases that say an employee must show he is acting in 

furtherance of his employer at the time of the accident in order to have 

immunity under Title 51. 

Requiring the tortfeasor to prove he is in the course of employment 

is in keeping with purpose of Title 51, the legislative intent to protect the 

injured worker, and the line of reasoning expressed in Olson, Evans, 

Orris, and Strachan. In each of those cases, the decision rested on the 

connection between the actions causing the injury and the at-fault party's 

course of employment. Over the past fifty years, the courts have 
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consistently declined to give carte blanche immunity to the negligent 

coworker who cannot show he was in the course of employment, whether 

it was the driver after his shift in Olson, the off-duty officer playing with 

his service weapon in Strachan, or the employee driving drunk and high in 

Orris. The determination did not rely on where these accidents took place 

but rather as it should- on the actions of the individuals causing the harm. 

Entila respectfully asks this Court to deny review and allow him to 

pursue his claim against the negligent driver who failed to scrape his 

windshield and ran him down as he walked to his car.